ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE

A meeting of Adult Social Care and Health Select Committee was held on Tuesday 24 October 2023.

Present: Cllr Marc Besford (Chair), Cllr Nathan Gale (Vice-Chair), Cllr John

> Coulson, Cllr Richard Eglington (sub for Cllr Paul Weston), Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Eileen Johnson (sub for Cllr Carol Clark), Cllr Susan Scott

and Cllr Vanessa Sewell.

Officers: Sarah Bowman-Abouna (DoPH), Julie Nisbet, Rob Papworth

(A,H&W), Darren Boyd and Gary Woods (CS).

Also in Ben Brown, Nikki Brown (The White House Care Home), Sarah attendance:

Stokes (Springwood) and Emma Joyeux (North East and North

Cumbria Integrated Care Board)

Cllr Carol Clark and Cllr Paul Weston. Apologies:

ASCH/18/23 Evacuation Procedure

The evacuation procedure was noted.

ASCH/19/23 Declarations of Interest

There were no interests declared.

ASCH/20/23 Minutes

Consideration was given to the minutes from the Committee meeting held on 19 September 2023.

Members were reminded that information had recently been circulated via email following a request for more detail on the Wellbeing (Mental Health) Hub (highlighted during the 'Healthwatch Stockton-on-Tees - Annual Report 2022-2023' item) and relaying responses by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) after queries were raised by the Committee during the 'CQC / PAMMS Inspection Results – Quarterly Summary (Q1 2023-2024)' item.

AGREED that the minutes of the meeting on 19 September 2023 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

ASCH/21/23 Well-Led Programme - Update

The Committee received a presentation on the Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council (SBC) Well-Led Programme which provided an update on developments around this leadership initiative. Led by a SBC Transformation Manager, and supported by three care home leaders who had been through the programme, key features of the presentation included:

• Why the Well-Led Leadership Programme was introduced: Historically, Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections had resulted in the identification of issues within the 'Well-Led' domain (one of its five key inspection elements). In 2018, 50% of the

Borough's care homes were rated 'Requires Improvement' in relation to leadership; in some cases, this was deemed 'Inadequate'.

- What the programme entails: This initiative was not a training programme which led to a qualification. Instead, it was an innovative approach to developing strong leadership across the residential care home sector, promoting and supporting new ways of working, challenging the status quo, and embracing (sometimes bold) change.
- Who was involved in the programme's creation: A collaborative approach with stakeholders wrapped around the local care home sector this included the former Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Leadership Academy (North East and Yorkshire), the CQC, SBC, and local care home providers.
- How the programme works and what it seeks to achieve: Providers previously worked in isolation and were often competing against each other. The programme sought to establish effective networks which enabled local care home leaders to share good practice and learn from each other's experiences. It specifically looks at problem-solving and improving professional practices via systematic observations and data collection, and seeks to strengthen an organisation through the development of several key pillars leadership, working with change, culture, systems navigation, equality / diversity / inclusion, coaching, and values / ethics.
- Impact of the first and second cohort (2019-2020): Tangible difference was identified as a result of participation in the programme, with more providers receiving an overall rating of 'Outstanding' or 'Good' following subsequent CQC inspections and less receiving 'Requires Improvement'.
- Impact of the programme between 2019 and 2023: Numerous benefits have been attributed to this 'well-led' initiative since its inception, including greater co-operation, increasing tools and confidence to lead a service well, the creation of networks / celebration events / forums for sharing good practice (aiding improvements in service quality), and positive relations with regulators and inspectors. Ultimately, CQC ratings had improved, and of the 73 people who had participated in the programme, 78% of those were still at their care service within the Borough (demonstrating impact on retention). It was also noted that the programme kept going despite the challenges arising from the emergence of COVID-19 (moved to remote sessions).
- Care home leader reflections on their experiences and the benefits it had brought them following their involvement: Several quotes from those who had participated in the programme were included. In addition, three care home leaders were in attendance (two who went through the first cohort and one who participated in the latest) to relay the impact of being involved, and emphasised the positive experience, learning and impact in terms of improvements in CQC feedback / outcomes. As well as management, service leads had also accessed the programme to ensure the wider senior team had the skills and confidence to further develop the existing offer (e.g. day trips) this had aided retention which was an achievement given the effects of the COVID pandemic. Other comments included the value of learning about yourself, understanding how to adapt to different personalities, focusing on the culture of an organisation, and making staff feel important. One provider had also developed a care home residents' social group in co-operation with SBC.
- Cohort six (2023-2024) supporting quality improvement: The current cohort started in September 2023 two from services currently rated 'Outstanding' overall, 12 from

services rated 'Good', and eight from services rated 'Requires Improvement'. Further information detailing the contents of the programme could be relayed if desired.

Commending officers and care home leaders for their presentation on this highly rated programme, the Committee was pleased to hear that participation had extended to those within the wider leadership team of local providers. Members were encouraged to hear of the positive experiences of those accessing the initiative, as well as the ongoing collaborative working which had underpinned its success, all of which contributed to supporting vulnerable people and their families.

The Committee was informed that the associated Activity Co-ordinators Network was now well established and that a course had been developed around activity provision. Despite sometimes negative media regarding the care sector, local initiatives were doing well, and Members encouraged SBC to keep promoting these messages.

Members asked how they, as Ward Councillors, could get involved with their local care home providers. In response, SBC officers stated that they would happily facilitate conversations following the meeting, and highlighted the Activity Coordinators Network as a useful place to start as this gives a good introduction to the Borough's offer.

A query was raised around the support provided to care homes by other organisations such as SBC, NHS Trusts and GPs. Care home leaders in attendance spoke of their positive experiences with such entities, including an awareness that these relationships were much better locally than peers (employed by the same provider) had in other Local Authority areas. There were lots of opportunities to get involved with various initiatives (specific reference was made to the support provided by the North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust Community Matron and Frailty Team, as well as virtual ward rounds and mental health nurse access via a local general practice) – the challenge was getting services to take these up.

As evidenced within a report later in the agenda for this meeting, the Committee drew attention to the increase in the number of services requiring improvement and queried the uptake of the programme for those providers with such a grading. Assurance was given that eight providers with a current rating of 'Requires Improvement (RI)' were registered, and that one provider with all four of its services rated 'RI' or 'Inadequate' had signed-up to participate. Members urged SBC to do what it could to sell the programme to those from providers currently graded 'RI'.

AGREED that the Well-Led Programme update be noted.

ASCH/22/23 Monitoring the Impact of Previously Agreed Recommendations - Day Opportunities for Adults

Consideration was given to the assessments of progress on the implementation of the recommendations from the Committee's previously completed review of Day Opportunities for Adults. This was the second progress update following the Committee's agreement of the Action Plan in June 2022, with developments in relation to the outstanding agreed actions noted as follows:

• Recommendation 1 (SBC and its relevant partners continue working with people accessing services and their families / carers to understand demand for both

traditional building-based day service provision and community-based activities. This should include:):

e) Considerations around the potential for assisting with identified transportation needs (e.g. ensuring public / private transport options are accessible and respond to the needs of people who use day opportunities): The Teeswide Dementia Friendly Community Network had continued to work with the SBC Licensing team and had trained over 500 taxi drivers. No sessions for bus drivers had been completed.

Members expressed disappointment at the lack of training sessions with bus providers to help raise awareness on how they can deliver their services to people who use day opportunities, as well as concern around the clarity of bus stop locations in Stockton High Street (it was felt that SBC had a key role here and that this was not all down to the bus companies). In related matters, the issue of wheelchair-accessible taxis had also been raised within the Licensing Committee, and that whilst such vehicles were more expensive, attempts were being made to introduce more of these into the existing fleet.

f) Changes to the existing budget for SBC in-house and commissioned services: The planned quarterly dashboard, including data on day opportunities spend, was produced in March 2023 and shared across the team. Work had also been completed to realign staff responsibilities to match changes in demand.

The Committee reaffirmed the need for the continued monitoring of the uptake of services to ensure that the Council's offer was providing value-for-money. Whilst it was positive that some individuals chose, and were able, to manage their own personal finances in terms of accessing day opportunities, it was important to track changes in demand for existing services. Officers agreed to share dashboard-related information as part of the next update on progress.

• Recommendation 3 (SBC Adults and Health and Children's Services directorates reinforce joint-working to identify and support opportunities that are most meaningful to younger people (including a reflection on any updated results from the Disabled Children's Team online survey), and strengthen the dissemination of information about existing services): Representatives from the Adult Social Care teams, as well as Lanark and day services, attended a 'Planning for Adulthood' event on 23 March 2023 – this was well received, and highlighted required work around transitions to ensure the right types of service / infrastructure were in place. Key staff will attend a follow-up event at Newtown Community Centre on 27 November 2023.

Members requested feedback on the November 2023 event as part of the next update on progress.

• Recommendation 4 (SBC to follow-up with Catalyst regarding the views of the wider VCSE sector around future day opportunities involvement (e.g. promotion of / access to existing VCSE activity, potential funding streams, volunteering)): The scheduled meetings between SBC and Catalyst had stalled following key members of the monthly meetings leaving the Local Authority – this had been picked-up with Catalyst and the 1:1 meetings had been reinstated. It was, however, noted that community facilities were now used more effectively and that services continued to move away from solely building-based provision.

Strengthening communication with, and of, the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) day opportunities offer was emphasised by the Committee, something which officers stated the Council continued to push.

• Recommendation 5 (SBC and its relevant health, social care and VCSE partners share and work towards an agreed vision for day opportunities across the Borough through the most appropriate mechanism (existing or new)): Since March 2023, the Council had continued to implement the transformation of day opportunities, including a decision not to progress with the development of South Thornaby Day Centre (but rather develop the offer through Community Day Options and Allensway), engagement with the top five VCSE day services providers to establish possibilities for more collaborative working, and investigation of digital opportunities to enhance the offer through the Council's day services providers (e.g. Digital Social Care Record).

In the absence of an 'assessment of progress' grading, it was agreed that this recommendation would continue to be viewed as 'on-track'. Members also requested the names of the 'top five' VCSE day services providers as part of the next update (it was noted by officers that this list had now grown).

AGREED that...

- 1) the Day Opportunities for Adults progress update be noted.
- 2) the next update on progress includes requested information as identified.

ASCH/23/23 PAMMS Annual Report (Care Homes) - 2022-2023

The Committee was presented with the PAMMS Annual Report (Care Homes) for 2022-2023. Led by the SBC Quality Assurance and Compliance Manager, key content was relayed as follows:

- The Provider Assessment and Market Management Solutions (PAMMS) is an online assessment tool developed in collaboration with Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) East and regional Local Authorities. It was designed to assist users in assessing the quality of care delivered by providers. The assessment was a requirement of the Framework Agreement (the Contract) with providers, and they were contractually obliged to engage with the process.
- A summary of assessments for contracted care homes undertaken by the SBC Quality Assurance and Compliance (QuAC) Team throughout 2022-2023 showed that 17 services had received a 'Good' overall PAMMS rating, 14 services had been graded 'Requires Improvement' overall, and one service was deemed 'Poor' (a home which had since closed).

2021-2022 overall ratings were also included for comparison – this indicated that 28 services were previously considered 'Good' (11 more than in 2022-2023), four services were previously graded 'Requires Improvement' (10 less than in 2022-2023), and no services were previously deemed 'Poor' (one less than in 2022-2023). Windsor Court's upgrading from 'Requires Improvement' in 2021-2022 to 'Good' in 2022-2023 was well deserved given the efforts made by the provider.

• Key themes from assessments that scored a 'Good' rating were listed – these included comprehensive, clear and concise care plans with personalised detail

(evidencing people's preferences and routines), well-managed medication (including checking consent prior to administering), robust processes around safe staff recruitment, and the promotion of choice and independence to residents by staff. Offering residents a choice of meals and evidence of a varied activity programme, tailored to the needs of the individual as well as groups, were also key.

- Key themes arising from those assessments that scored 'Requires Improvement' or 'Poor' showed shortfalls in the completion of staff recruitment records (including gaps in previous employment and DBS checks), inconsistencies in relation to the quality and content of care plans, and issues regarding the management of medication. Other concerns surrounded infection, prevention and control (ICP) procedures, the décor of some homes, and a lack of contractual compliance around staff induction, supervision and training.
- In an attempt to improve the quality / robustness of providers' medication management / processes, SBC undertook a co-ordinated support approach in conjunction with the NECS Medicines Optimisation Team around the medicine elements of the PAMMS tool throughout 2022-2023.
- As per established practice, following a PAMMS inspection, an Action Plan is developed highlighting those areas that need an improvement in quality / compliance to ensure they are being delivered to a 'Good' standard. The Action Plans are monitored regularly by the responsible QuAC Officer for progress, and will be only signed off as compliant and complete when all identified areas demonstrate and evidence the required level of quality and service delivery. Key themes regarding PAMMS outcomes are also shared with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) as well SBC Transformation Managers and SBC Public Health, whilst ratings are provided to social workers who can share with families searching for a care home so they can access up-to-date information about the Council's view of quality.

Committee questions focused on the key themes arising from those services which were rated 'Requires Improvement' or 'Poor'. Members expressed alarm at the identified lack of DBS checks, though it was explained that this usually pertained to supplementary staff going into a setting to provide an additional service (as opposed to the core workforce) or an issue around the renewal of previous documentation. It was confirmed that anyone providing 'personal' care on a 1:1 basis must have a valid DBS check. As for IPC shortcoming, this often related to a lack of understanding / apathy (e.g. lack of mask-wearing / hand-washing) about the required procedures, though it was acknowledged that guidance can quickly and repeatedly change.

Several concerns were raised on the reported shortfalls in the management and administration of medication, something which Members considered to be a fundamental element of care. The Committee heard that medicines processes could be very complex and involved requirements often unique to an individual, as well as factors such as consent and storage. The use of agency staff (as a result of recruitment challenges) who have less knowledge about the setting and its residents may cause issue, though it was emphasised that care home managers had a responsibility to ensure any worker was properly inducted. The Committee subsequently requested details on the uptake of the Level 3 medications management training.

Noting that providers were usually private businesses who can and do make profits in this sector, Members asked if there was any point where the Council would refuse to

place individuals within a service if there were identified concerns. In response, the Responding to and Addressing Serious Concerns (RASC) multi-agency process was highlighted which prohibits admissions when a provider becomes too risky – this remains in place until sufficient improvement can be evidenced.

Reflecting on the report as a whole, the Committee was perturbed about the downward trend in overall ratings which was likely to be echoed within any forthcoming CQC inspections. Getting medicines and IPC processes right was crucial in ensuring safe care, and the Council was again encouraged to promote the Well-Led Programme to those services that had been deemed 'Requires Improvement'.

AGREED that...

- 1) the PAMMS Annual Report (Care Homes) 2022-2023 be noted.
- 2) information on the uptake of the Level 3 medications management training be provided.

ASCH/24/23 Scrutiny Review of Access to GPs and Primary Medical Care

Following the Committee's approval of the scope and plan for the Access to GPs and Primary Medical Care review (preceded by the consideration of a background briefing in relation to this scrutiny topic) at the last meeting in September 2023, this first evidence-gathering session involved an initial submission from the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board (NENC ICB). Led by the NENC ICB Commissioning Lead – Primary Care, an extensive presentation addressing several key lines of enquiry covered the following:

- What is General Practice?
- GP Contracts and Regulations
- Other Key Agencies
- Core Funding and Expenditure
- Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and Directed Enhanced Services (DES)
- Overview of General Practices in Stockton
- Practice and PCN Workforce
- Primary Care Appointment Activity
- Enhanced Access Utilisation
- GP Patient Survey 2023 Results
- Access Challenges
- Primary Care Access Recovery Plan (PCARP)
- Empowered Patients
- Implementing Modern General Practice Access
- Building Capacity and Cutting Bureaucracy
- Progress To Date
- PCN Capacity and Access Improvement Plans
- National Public Relations Campaign for GP Access
- Links to Key Documents

A 'Stockton-on-Tees Data Pack' had also been provided to supplement the presentation – this included a map of the Borough's general practices and branch sites, practice list sizes, opening hours, current CQC ratings, staffing levels, GP numbers (headcount and full-time equivalent as a ratio to patient list size), and patient online management information. Appointment data (at a Borough and Tees Valley

level) was also detailed, as was a breakdown of GP survey results per Stockton-on-Tees practice.

Whilst the existing GP contract stated that 'practices must provide essential services at such times, within core hours, as are appropriate to meet the reasonable needs of its patients', it was noted that there was no precise definition as to what constituted 'essential' nor 'reasonable needs' ('core hours' were specified, though). The current five-year contract was in its final year, though details regarding subsequent contract plans had yet to be communicated.

In terms of funding, in addition to the core funding via the Global Sum, practices rely on other forms of income to cover expenditure. One of these streams is the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) scheme which, whilst not part of the core contract, can be beneficial for practices and is therefore rarely ignored. A patient list size of around 7,000-8,000 was considered financially sustainable – in Stockton-on-Tees, the average list size was 9,808 – the smallest being 2,303 and the largest 21,555 (as at 1 January 2023).

Regarding the primary care appointment activity, the data did not include 'dropped' calls which had previously been difficult to track – however, new telephony systems (as part of the phasing out of analogue phones) do collect this information, and the Borough's practices could be asked to supply this data if required. Statistics in relation to enhanced access utilisation indicated that significantly less people used the Sunday service in Eaglescliffe (it was stated that patients should be offered appointments during core hours as well as enhanced access options).

The 2023 results of the GP patient survey were probed by the Committee, though it was noted that the data represented a small sample (around 2,500) of the Borough's 200,000+ population. Focus was given to the percentage of patients who found it easy to get through to someone at their practice on the phone (52% in Stockton-on-Tees compared to 50% nationally), and Members expressed deep concern that most other types of business would not be in operation for long if customers were not answered on such a level (in related matters, Members also raised the problem of people attempting to cancel appointments which led to missed appointments if they failed to get through to notify the practice). In response, the limited sample size was reiterated, as was the fact that access had become an issue across the whole country, hence the national recovery plan. Despite the current situation, there was still a lot of good work going on by practices.

A plethora of challenges around access to practices were listed, the most significant of which was arguably the ongoing recruitment and retention difficulties for both clinical and administrative roles. Practices were not an attractive place to work at present, and the abuse of staff was a real issue. Cost-of-living factors also added to the pressure on services, with increases in wages not covered by practice income. Ultimately, practices were limited in terms of changing their operations and financial reimbursements were not huge (despite practices giving very high value-for-money).

The ambitions of the Primary Care Access Recovery Plan (PCARP), published on 9 May 2023, were discussed. The Committee heard that the high-profile aim to tackle the 8.00am rush did not translate into the existing GP contract, nor did it mean that an individual would get an appointment on the same day (despite some elements of the media interpreting this so). However, if there was a clinically urgent need, a person should be offered an appointment on the same, or next, day.

Assurance was given that local practices were proactively changing the way they delivered their services, and several examples of progress were highlighted. In addition, a national campaign in association with Healthwatch had been initiated with regards access, and the ICB was in the process of contacting practices to verify the accuracy of their opening times on websites / public platforms.

Reflecting on the list of Stockton-on-Tees practices, Members asked where the Lawson Street provision fitted into the local offer. It was confirmed that whilst there were two practices located within the Lawson Street premises, other services that were delivered from there were not part of general practice services.

The Committee drew attention to the Patient Online Management Information (POMI) statistics included within the supplementary data pack, and noted the varying level of patients accessing their records remotely (which would be interesting to compare with any available regional / national figures). Members were informed that, from 31 October 2023, there was a new contract requirement that all people should have access to future (not past) records, though this had created some nervousness amongst practices with regards potential safeguarding issues – the ICB continued to work with providers on this. In terms of the different levels of online bookings / cancellations and repeat prescription ordering, variances in relation to the level of awareness / promotion of remote options may explain data fluctuations, and there was not an ambition to get this close or up to 100% – this was merely just a way of expanding patient choice.

A query was raised as to whether a register of the different services offered by each practice was kept (reported confusion as to which services offered flu and / or COVID vaccinations was relayed by Members). Members were reminded about the difficulty within the GP contract in articulating what 'essential services' included – as such, practice websites and patient leaflets were the main source of information.

Thanking the NENC ICB representative for their detailed submission, attention turned to the second evidence-gathering session scheduled for the next Committee meeting in November 2023. It was subsequently agreed that contributions would be sought from both the Cleveland Local Medical Committee, and Hartlepool and Stockton Health GP Federation.

AGREED that the information be noted.

ASCH/25/23 Regional Health Scrutiny Update

Consideration was given to the latest Regional Health Scrutiny Update report summarising developments regarding the Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee, the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) / Integrated Care System (ICS) Joint Health Scrutiny Committee, and the North East Regional Health Scrutiny Committee. Attention was drawn to the following:

• Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee: Two meetings had taken place since the previous update report. The first (and first of the 2023-2024 municipal year) was on 28 July 2023 where items included NENC ICB / local NHS Trust updates in relation to Tees Valley Breast Care Services and Community Diagnostic Centres, a North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) response to recent CQC inspection outcomes and an independent review of the Trust, and a Tees, Esk and

Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) presentation on their Lived Experience / Co-Creation work and the impact of their Lived Experience Directors.

The last meeting took place on 6 October 2023 (note: the meeting was not quorate) with agenda items covering the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Strategy and accompanying Joint Forward Plan (JFP), along with TEWV updates on Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Adult Learning Disability Respite Provision. The next meeting was scheduled for 15 December 2023 – anticipated items include a winter plan update, future plans for non-surgical oncology, an update on the state of dentistry, and community water fluoridation proposals.

Further to the appearance of senior NEAS representatives at the July 2023 meeting, a link regarding the Trust's subsequent AGM in September 2023 (which the Chair of the Tees Valley Joint Health Scrutiny Committee / SBC Adult Social Care and Health Select Committee attended) was provided for information.

• Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) / Integrated Care System (ICS) Joint Health Scrutiny Committee: No further developments regarding this Joint Committee since the previous update in July 2023. In related matters, continuing efforts to tackle smoking rates and its impact were highlighted, as well as a report on health inequalities and the piloting of a new app-based booking system for gastroenterology patients at North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust.

AGREED that the Regional Health Scrutiny Update report be noted.

ASCH/26/23 Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Consideration was given to the minutes of Health and Wellbeing Board meetings which took place in May 2023, June 2023 and July 2023. Attention was drawn to the following:

- 28 June 2023: Under the 'Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022 Update' item, reference was made to developments in relation to the Borough's pharmacy provision. Members were reminded that Healthwatch Stockton-on-Tees had identified pharmacies as one of their key priority areas for 2023-2024.
- 26 July 2023: It was noted that the 'Vaping Update Presentation from FRESH' item was the catalyst for an in-year scrutiny topic suggestion on access to and impact of vaping. This had since been added to the scrutiny work programme and was scheduled to be undertaken by the Crime and Disorder Select Committee in 2024.

AGREED that the minutes of Health and Wellbeing Board meetings which took place in May 2023, June 2023 and July 2023 be noted.

ASCH/27/23 Chair's Update and Select Committee Work Programme 2023-2024

Chair's Update

The Chair had no further updates.

Work Programme 2023-2024

Consideration was given to the Committee's current work programme. The next meeting was due to take place on 21 November 2023 and was scheduled to feature the next CQC / PAMMS quarterly update on published inspection reports (Q2 2023-2024) and the second evidence-gathering session in relation to the Access to GPs and Primary Medical Care review. An update from senior representatives of North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust regarding the Trust's maternity services was also intended.

AGREED that the Chair's Update and Adult Social Care and Health Select Committee Work Programme 2023-2024 be noted.